Design of Debris Slash Traps: Considerations for NZ Plantation Forestry Operating



April 2020

Enviro Link Contract

Prepared for: Dr. Murry Cave, Gisborne Regional Council

Prepared by: Prof. Rien Visser and Campbell Harvey

School of Forestry, University of Canterbury Christchurch, NZ

Table of Contents

1.	Slash Traps - Overview	.3
2.	Design Principles of Slash Traps	.6
	Flow rate	.6
	Structure aperture	.8
	Structure placement	10
	Storage capacity	12
	Structure design	13
3.	Examples of Substantial / Engineered Debris Traps	15
4.	Slash Traps for NZ Forestry	18
5.	Supporting References	24
6.	Appendix: Good Practice Guide Slash Trap - NZFOA	28
7.	Appendix 1: NES-PF 'Slash Traps' (section 83 -)	33

1. Slash Traps - Overview

Slash traps are structures designed to intercept and trap slash in waterways to prevent their migration downstream. In a broader sense, they are referred to as 'debris traps'. In most natural waterways debris that become entrained in a flood flow will include rock/sediment as well as woody material. Any structure designed to retain woody debris, or more specifically slash for forest operations, will also retain sediment (Figure 1). Visa versa, traps designed to trap sediment will also capture woody debris.



Figure 1: Left, a basic railway iron and steel rope slash trap will retain slash, with sediment building up within and behind. Right, the more permanent debris control structure will retain sediment in the pond behind, with slash being trapped at the outlet by the pillars in the structure.

Rain-induced landslides and debris flows that recruit, transport and deposit woody debris or slash (i.e. 'slash events') are a significant global and national hazard. Even moderate entrainment of debris can exacerbate the hazard of a flood and potentially cause severe impacts for downstream infrastructure and communities. Flood flows with significant volumes of debris entrained are referred to as debris flows or debris torrents.

The scale of a flood flow in a given catchment can be estimated using rainfall-flood flow models (such as TM61 or Rational) and or interpolation/extrapolation of gauged catchments ('Regional methods'), whereby variability between estimates is considerable. Predicting the movement of debris associated with a given flood flow event is much more complex. In general, there is a relationship between the size of the flood event and the amount of debris mobilised. There is also a clear relationship with the availability of readily mobilised debris within a catchment (such as harvest residues, or recently disturbed soil from earthworks) and the volume of material moved. However, for any given event the total volume / amount of debris mobilised is highly variable. Once debris is entrained, especially near the top of a catchment, it will provide the force (/momentum) to dislodge greater volumes of debris in its passage down through the catchment. That is, while floodwater is very capable of dislodging

debris, once debris is entrained the resulting damage can be an order of magnitude larger with debris flows often exceeding 50km/hr.

Figure 2 illustrates the complexity of the concept of debris flow estimates, linking flood flow to debris discharge from the catchment (from Rudolf-Miklau et al. 2015). Once flood flows exceed a 1 in 10 year probability (10% AEP, or 90% 'non-exceedance'), a 'Regime Transfer' can occur that changes the expected volume of debris from that delivered by 'Fluid Gravity Process' and moves to a 'Sediment Gravity Process' than can deliver material an order of magnitude greater for the same size flood event. Similarly, storms greater than a 1-in-200 year event (0.5% AEP) can trigger catastrophic effects (Regime III).



Figure2: Sketch of different torrential regimes (from Rudolf-Miklau, Hubl and Suda, 2015)

In regions such as the Alps in central Europe, managing debris from steep catchments is important enough to warrant its own academic discipline as well as unique State departments, and this is referred to ("Wildbach und Lawinenbau" (translated; 'Avalanche and Torrent Control'). Much of the technical knowledge in terms of debris flow and slash management, used in this report comes from this German/Austrian/Italy region. This is also because they have extensive experience in active forest management practices in their mountainous regions. There are many examples of large scale events from this region (Figure 3).



Figure 3: Mobilisation of woody debris is a worldwide problem; photo from Germany showing large-scale mobilisation by flood flow of whole trees from a catchment exposed to a major storm.

Larger scale clear-cuts are typically avoided in central Europe. These legal harvest restrictions have developed over time and have many reasons including aesthetic, wildlife, sustainability for local supply, but also to avoid changes to the hydrological response of the catchment that can exacerbate woody debris flow events. However, events such as larger forest fires and storms resulting in large scale wind-throw has resulted in significant debris flows formation and massive valley jams.

Approximately one-quarter of NZ's plantation forests are on steepland highly susceptible to both erosion and catchment discharge of woody debris. There have been many well documented occurrences of large scale movement of woody debris originating from commercial forestry catchments. While there is a broad acceptance that NZ's forest owners need to manage the risk of slash events, their ability predict the scale of such debris events is very limited. Managing this risk with confidence is limited by a critical lack of essential data and information to underpin hazard analysis (sources, extent, frequency) and risk management (ecological, social and economic impacts).

What is well established is that forestry debris can and will move in flood flow events, and that slash traps can be effective in retaining relatively large quantities of woody debris.

2. Design Principles of Slash Traps

The design of slash traps is complex and the following is intended to highlight some of the basic principles that are pertinent for consideration of slash traps in the NZ plantation forestry context.

Flow rate

Slash traps are most effective when the design reduces the velocity of the water approaching the structure. This is achieved by locating the slash trap in a lower reach of the catchment as the waterway emerges from the steepest part, or where a structure can be built to increase the depth of the waterway. Figure 4 illustrates this for a designed slash trap.



Figure4: The streambed is widened (a) to ensure water flow reduces in speed and provides the capacity for capturing sediment, which will typically drop out at the head of the enlargement as soon as water velocity slows (c). Woody debris will float to the restraining structure (b & c).

Figure 5 shows the change in energy state of water flowing down a steep waterway, from a rapid ('critical') flow, to a slower ('subcritical') and deeper flow as water is restrained by the slash trap – even without a change in streambed slope.



Figure 5: Hydraulic profile of the debris dam design in a steep stream, whereby the dam slows the approaching water. Flow is shallow and fast approaching the structure, slows to subcritical that allows the debris to settle out, then is super-critical again.

While such structures can be built using the natural shape of the environment, the stream can also be modified using a series of structures. In Figure 6 below the streambed is changed to a lower slope, with a weir structure in place to dissipate the velocity/energy, and widened to reduce flow rate, prior to passing the structure. Again, the sediment would be expected to settle out immediately after the first structure where the water is slowed, and the woody debris captured by the second part of the structure. The stream banks are armoured to avoid collapsing the stream banks and endangering the integrity of the structure.



Figure 6: A basic debris trap design that deliberately changes the slope and shape of the streambed (top side view, bottom plan view).

More complex designs can also be considered that provide debris storage capacity for steep catchments where natural storage immediately above the stream may be limited. Figure 7 shows a design that has two interesting elements. The first is the double storage capability, meaning the individual structure elements (i.e. the damns themselves) need not be as substantial. The second aspect is that the smaller intake dams are designed to reduce the velocity of the water entering the storage area, but more importantly the first dam has a larger opening to capture only the larger debris (i.e. logs / trees), and the second damn includes cross-bars (approx. 1m spacing) to capture most of the remaining debris.



Figure 7: A more complex debris trap design: the upper catchment is primary for capturing sediment and larger debris, and the lower structure with the cross-members capturing the medium to small woody debris.

Structure aperture

All debris / slash traps are designed to pass the water / flood flow relatively unimpeded. Often they are also designed to allow some sediment / slash to pass to retain the natural character of the downstream waterway. That is, an absence of sediment (and slash) moving downstream will result in a channel devoid of habitat and aquatic life.

The two larger-scale permanent structures shown in Figure 8 are a similar design, with a vertical aperture that allows the stream at low-flow to pass unimpeded. Small floods that have blocked the gap can overtop in a controlled manner through the central weir-like opening and large floods might overtop the whole structure, but the velocity of the water is dissipated at a level that allows the debris to settle. While dam shown in the upper figure might be expected

to retain larger woody debris, it will readily pass all medium and smaller sized debris. The lower image in the figure shows a similar dam design but one that includes horizontal elements that will retain medium sized woody debris.



Figure 8: Photos of two similar designs, whereby the lower structure design to retain more woody debris with horizontal elements to restrict passage of larger and medium-sized woody material,

Figure 9 shows a variation of the horizontal bars with the use of vertical columns. Literature suggests there is little difference in the efficacy of trapping debris between horizontal and vertical elements, it is the aperture that determines the volume trapped.



Figure 9: A debris trap design for catching a large range of woody debris with smaller apertures on the vertical columns.

Structure placement

In general, debris / slash traps are designed and placed with consideration to the physical downstream values that need to be protected. This may be simply neighbouring downstream land, but also infrastructure such as roads and residential areas (Figure 10).



Figure 10: example of a substantial avalanche and torrent control structure, intend to trap both rock and woody debris from the catchment, but also showing the need to manage the risk with substantial residential developments in the valley below it.

Bridges are an example of infrastructure at risk from slash events, as the build-up of slash creates forces that it is not designed to withstand. As such debris traps are often planned so as to prevent debris from interacting with downstream infrastructure such as bridges. However there are examples of bridge designs that have integrated debris traps. While this adds elements of risk to the overall integrity of the bridge, it does provide for easy access in clearing debris after a flood flow event. As per Figure 11, it is only designed to trap the largest debris (i.e. tree size material) and does so in a location where the water will not have great velocity (i.e. relatively low slope river).



Figure 11: Debris control built into a bridge structure to avoid downstream impacts.

There are examples of debris catchers to work in conjunction with a culvert crossing, although he primary function of these 'debris traps' are to prevent the culvert from blocking up and risking the integrity of the road (Figure 12). In this situation the steel caging structure is coarse enough to allow the water to flow through and shaped so as to deflect the slash either up and or to the side. While moderate volumes of slash will be retained, in larger events the bulk of the debris is designed to overtop the structure.



Figures 12: Two examples where a culvert is designed to primarily deflect debris, but moderate volumes of debris will also be retained.

Storage capacity

Slash traps are designed for a given capacity. That is how much debris they can retain, and ensuring that the structure itself does not fail under that loading (Figure 13). All debris traps are designed to pass flood water, and they all need to have the debris removed at intervals or after major events. No structure is ever designed to catch all the debris (Figure 14).



Figure 13: Separation of bed-load and large woody debris as a consequence of provoked backwater (from Bezzola et al. 2004). Both the sediment and woody debris must be removed to at intervals or after flood events to retain the efficacy of the structure.



Figure 14: The photo on the left shows a retaining structure, whereby on the right looking upstream shown the sediment retained within the channel. While effective, failure to clear out the accumulated sediment has drastically changed the watercourse.

Figure 15 shows a range of other slash trap structures. The image bottom left is a nice example of a relatively low-cost structure, top right is an example of a more carefully designed and costly slash trap. Top-left is interesting, being a series of anchored wire ropes across a span designed to catch slash during flood flow with no interference with the

waterway at low flows. Bottom right is also a unique design for an outer bend of the river where the slash trap is designed parallel to the river, and slash, which is naturally driven to the outside, is caught behind a series of post secured in the embankment.



Figure 15: Different design options depending on placement of structure.

Structure design

A complete engineered design of a substantial debris dam structure is complex. However, a number of documents exist that help with design calculations for structure strength. For example the design guide developed by the US Department Hydraulic Engineering of Transportation Federal Highway Administration (Circular No. 9 FHWA-IF-04-016, 2005) entitled "Debris Control Structures Evaluation and Countermeasures" is very comprehensive and steps through various loading equations for structural design.

Part of the complexity of design arises from the build-up of woody debris that increases the loading on any vertical elements of a structure. Effectively, the woody debris mass provides a much larger surface for the water to push on. Figure 16 is from the NZ Transit Bridge Manual and shows engineers being provided with guidance as to the shape / size of the woody debris 'raft' that might realistically build, and the loading that is induced.

Where a significant amount of driftwood is carried, water pressure shall also be allowed for on a driftwood raft lodged against the pier. The size of the raft is a matter of judgement, but as a guide, dimension A in Figure 3.4 should be half the water depth, but not greater than 3m. Dimension B should be half the sum of adjacent span lengths but not greater than 15m. Pressure shall be calculated using the formula in (a) above, with K = 0.5.



Figure 16: Transit NZ providing guidance as to calculating loading from debris accumulations on a pier (Figure 3.4 Debris raft for pier design from Transit NZ Bridge Manual).

3. Examples of Substantial / Engineered Debris Traps

This section provides examples of avalanche and debris control structures. Such structures are substantial, requiring extensive design, and reflect the risk of failure as well as the value of the downstream assets that require the protection. In Europe, structure are typically designed and built within the sphere of 'avalanche and torrent control'. While such structures are designed with the consideration of woody debris, typically they focus on rock movement as that remains the greatest risk. Most will have multiple design aspects that include the dam itself, but also major modification to the water and the embankments (Figure 17).



Figure 17: Substantial modification of the natural waterway to prevent debris from impacting communities downstream. Design elements include a series of dams, including the slash-catching component in the first structure, as well as embankments to prevent scour.

Figure 18 (left) is a classic debris trap design for a medium to large-sized catchment. It is a larger, permanent, and well design structure. It has a larger area behind to allow the rock/ sediment to settle out, but also central vertical pillars with cross-bars to trap the majority of woody debris. Another example of a debris trap design to retain a large percentage of the woody debris is shown on the right. Although the main dam has a large opening to allow the passage of flood-water, it has an extensive grating system to capture nearly all debris. For this design there is a clear overflow design (to the right) once the water level exceeds the height of the grate.



Figure 18: For this design in Italy, the calculated debris storage capacity was 12,000m3. The overflow weir is on the right.

Modern design will feature easy overtopping for large flood events to ensure the structure remains intact in all but the most extreme events. Figure 19 shows, that while the debris trap design is similar to previous examples, extra care is taken for the central pillars (with steel caps) and side walls (with rock) to have a sloping lead angle to deflect large debris.





Figure 19: Front and back of a modern debris trap design. In the lower figure the sloping lead of the central design elements are clearly visible. As such larger debris elements (i.e. whole trees) will be pushed up and over in larger floods to ensure the integrity of the structure is not compromised.

Given the population density and value of tourism in Europe, considerable effort is made to design debris dams with high aesthetic qualities (Figure 20). In general, all these substantial structures are designed and constructed by the regional torrent and avalanche control agency. They are expected to operate within a given budget, and as such undertake project according to need, although financial support can be obtained from the municipality that requires the protection.



Figure 20: A design that is aesthetically pleasing, using stonemason type workmanship for the larger wall of the dam.

4. Slash Traps for NZ Forestry

Forest practices alter the physical landscape through built infrastructure, and its vegetation through active forest management practices (i.e. harvesting). This can influence the stability of steep slopes, risk of smaller landslides, but also the potential debris loading in waterways. It is not feasible to prevent all, or even a majority, of landslides that occur during large storm events. For example, the Oregon Department of Forestry regulates forest practices to manage landslide risk in order to protect the public's safety. Forest Practices Act rules for timber harvesting and constructing roads help minimize surface erosion and the potential for large scale woody debris movement.



Figure 21: Numerous significant woody debris flow events have occurred in the last decade. The large volume of harvest residues significantly exacerbates the impact. The impacts are not limited to the rural environment (above), but in many cases have impacted the coastal environment (below).

Three primary mechanisms for the off-site movement of woody debris have been identified for plantation forests: (a) harvesting residues left in gullies, waterways or flood zones than can be flushed out during higher rainfall events (Figure 22), (b) large accumulations of harvest residues, such as birdnests around landings, that can collapse under their own weight over time, and (c) harvest residues in the cut-over that are entrained during a landslide type event and mobilised by debris flows. It should be noted recent major slash events has resulted in many forestry companies drastically changing their approach to managing harvest residues, especially around landings.



Figure 22: Trees felled into a gully are difficult for cable yarder crews to extract. Broken tree-tops and slash typically also accumulate in such gullies when the timber is extracted across the gulley.

The use of slash traps provides a mitigation measure to limit the frequency, as well as the volume, of debris moving off-site. The Environmental Code of Practice (NZFOA 2009) talks about using slash traps downstream of areas where slash removal from harvesting is difficult. Little information is currently available on the efficacy of slash traps, although it is known that smaller slash traps are at higher risk of failure.

It should be noted that slash management traps need not be engineering designed structures. Effective streamside management zones can both intercept the harvest residues from entering the waterway system in the first place, but also retain larger volumes of residues if they are located where the catchment flattens out and the velocity of the water is reduced (Figure 23).



Figure 23: Streamside management zones that are well-vegetated can provide an effective trap for capturing mobilised residues.

The NES-PF provides the following guidance on slash traps:

- **Design**: Allow water to flow freely through structure; Height of structure no more than 2m above stream bed.
- *Placement*: For catchments > 20 ha, structure must be outside the bank full channel width; Machine must be able to access for clearing/maintenance
- **Inspection and clearance:** Traps must be inspected within 5 days of a *significant* rainfall event that is likely to mobilise debris. Must be cleared of debris within 20 working days of a 1-in-20 year flood event. Must be maintained to avoid river bed erosion and to ensure soundness of the structure
- *Reporting*: Written report to the Council within 20 working days of construction and an annual report detailing cleanout/maintenance, performance, and any adverse effects.
- *Where to put the slash*? Somewhere stable, above the 1-in-20 year peak water level.

The NZ Forest owners have recently developed a series of guides to support the implementation of the NES-PF (Forest Practice Guide 6.4). It states:

- "Slash traps are generally constructed in the channel of a river. The aim is to catch larger pieces of slash that would otherwise be transported out of a catchment in flood flow conditions".
- "Slash traps are best made from rammed railway irons or steel beams threaded with wire rope and anchored solidly at each end. They have proven effective in catchments of several hundred hectares".

While full engineering designs for larger scale slash traps are available, most NZ designs are simple. For example railway irons linked and anchored by wire rope and this approach is

promoted through the NZFOA Good Practice Guide (Figure 24). Other low cost materials include eucalyptus poles, steel grid, a debris dam itself, and a heavy duty fishing net.



Figure 24: Left - Slash trap in a headwater stream using crossed railway irons embedded in the stream bed. Wire rope is wrapped around the railway irons and secured. Right - slash trap installed using vertical railway irons with wire rope is threaded through the irons and secured either to mature trees or to deadmen anchors (buried logs).

However, the efficacy of such low-cost structures are a concern. While there is evidence they retain debris from smaller scale flood flow events, they can readily fail in larger events and then not only discharge the accumulated debris and sediment, but also the steel and rope. As such, published information for large woody debris specific traps are typically more substantial (Figure 25).



Figure 25: A substantial debris catcher ('Slash Rack') installed in a higher risk catchment (Photo retrieved from USDA NRCS)

The use of poles driven into the ground represents a very feasible and low cost option for retaining slash. The location of this option should be where the waterway emerges from the steepest part of the catchment, but still upstream of the road infrastructure, and at a diagonal to the waterway to guide the water over the structure for high flow but reduce the overall loading on the structure itself (Figure 26).





Figure 26: Photo and map showing the location and design of a driven pole slash trap. In this case as seen on the photo at top, the poles are secured using wire rope.

A design spreadsheet has been developed as part of this project to indicate the required depth and sizing of the poles. The spreadsheet shows the two main failure modes, (a) the poles being pushed over by the force of the water and debris, and (b) the poles breaking through bending. The design inputs relate to the desired spacing of the poles, the height above ground, the strength of the ground and the factor of safety. This spreadsheet can be obtained from Campbell Harvey (Campbell.Harvey@canterbury.ac.nz).

5. Supporting References

- Abbe, T., Montgomery, D. 2003. Patterns and processes of wood debris accumulation in the Queets river basin, Washington. Geomorphology 51(2003):81–107.
- Amishev, D., Basher, L., Phillips, C., Hill, S., Marden, M., Bloomberg, M., Moore, J. 2014. New Forest Management Approaches to Steep Hills. Ministry for Primary Industries (MPI) Technical Paper Number: 2014/39. 110 pp. https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Les_Basher/publication/284367466_New_forest_ma nagement_approaches_to_steep_hills/links/56523e0608aeafc2aaba9bb6.pdf (accessed on 10 January 2017).
- Andreoli, A. Comiti, R. Aristide, M. 2007. Characteristics, distribution and geomorphic role of large woody debris in a mountain stream of the Chilean Andes. Earth Surf. Process. Landforms 32, 1675–1692.
- Aust, W.M. & Blinn, C.R. 2004. Forestry best management practices for timber harvesting and site preparation in the eastern United States: An overview of water quality and productivity research during the past 20 years (1982–2002). Water, Air, & Soil Pollution: Focus (2004) 4: 5. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:WAFO.0000012828.33069.f6
- Baillie, B. and Cummins, T. 1998. Harvesting Practices Effects on Woody Debris in Streams and Channel Bank Disturbance. Project Report 71. Liro Forestry Solutions. Rotorua, NZ. 20pp.
- Baillie, B. 2005. Wood in Streams Size Really Does Matter. New Zealand Tree Grower. Feb. 2005 Issue. http://www.nzffa.org.nz/farm-forestry-model/resource-centre/treegrower-articles/tree-grower-february-2005/wood-in-streams-size-really-does-matter/ (accessed on 15 May 2018).
- Bloomberg, M., Davies, T., Visser, R., and Morgenroth J. 2011. Erosion Susceptibility Classification and Analysis of Erosion Risks for Plantation Forestry. University of Canterbury report for the Ministry for the Environment.
- Bloomberg, M. 2014. Review of forest management options for 30-year old radiata pine plantations in upper catchments of Pohara-Ligar Bay area, Golden Bay. Report prepared for Tasman District Council. 39p.
- BOP. 2011. Report on exotic forest debris management related to storm events in the Bay of Blenty. 29p
- Bosch, J., Hewlett, J. 1982. A review of catchment experiments to determine the effect of vegetation changes on water yield and evapotranspiration. Journal of Hydrology 55:3-23
- Brown, K., Visser, R. Erosion Sources and Sediment Pathways Associated with forest harvesting activities in New Zealand. Report to New Zealand Forest Owners Association. 25p.
- Cave, M. Davies, N. and Langford J. 2017. Cyclone Cook Slash Investigation. Gisborne District Council, New Zealand. 105p
- Davie, T., Fahey, B. 2005. Forestry and water yield current knowledge and further work. NZ Journal of Forestry 49(4):3-8.

- Douglas, J., Stokes, S, and Wairoa Conservation Ltd. 2011. Report on Exotic forest debris management related to storm events in the Bay of Plenty. Operations publication 2011/03 Whakatane, Bay 105
- Dowling CA, Santi PM 2014. Debris flows and their toll on human life: a global analysis of debrisflow fatalities from 1950 to 2011. Natural Hazards 71(1): 203–227.
- Fannin RJ, Moore GD. Schwab JW, VanDine DF. 2005. Landslide risk management in forest practices. In Proceedings International Conference on Landslide Risk Management, Vancouver, B.C., Canada, May 31-June 3, pp. 299-320.
- Froehlich, H.A. 1977. Accumulation of Large Debris in Forest Streams Before and After Logging *In* Oregon State University Seminar Proceedings 'Logging debris in streams II'.
- Greenway D.R. 1987. Vegetation and slope stability. In: Anderson, M. G., Richards, K. S., (Eds.). Slope Stability. John Wiley & Sons, Chichester, UK, pp. 187–230.
- Guthrie, R.H. Hockin, A., Colquhounc L., Nagyc T., Evans, S. Aylesc C. 2010. An examination of controls on debris flow mobility: Evidence from coastal British Columbia, Geomorphology Vol 114(4):601-613
- Hall, P. 1993. Dismantling of accumulations of logging residue around hauler landings. Logging Industry Research Organisation New Zealand. Liro report Vol. 18 No.6
- Hall, P., McMahon, S. 1997. Logging residue at hauler landings results from an industry survey. Logging Industry Research Organisation New Zealand. Liro report Vol. 22 No.2
- Hardy. C. 1996. Guidelines for Estimating Volume, Biomass, and Smoke Production for Piled Slash. US DA Forest Service General Technical Report PNW-GTR-364. 28p
- Harrill, H. 2014. Improving Cable Logging Operations for New Zealand's Steep Terrain Forest Plantations. PhD Thesis, University of Canterbury, Christchurch, New Zealand. 268p.
- Hicks, D., 1995. A way to estimate the frequency of rainfall–induced mass movements. Journal of Hydrology New Zealand. Vol 33 pp59-67.
- Hornbeck, J.W., Martin, C.W. and Egar, C. 1997. Summary of water yield experiments at Hubbard Brook experimental forest'. *Can. J. Forest Res.*, New Hampshire **27**, 2043–2052.
- Huba, J. and Suda, J. 2017. Standardized stress model for design of torrential barriers under impact by debris flow. Int. J. of Erosion Control Eng. Vol. 10/1: Pp 47-55
- Imaizumi, F. 2008. Effects of forest harvesting on the occurrence of landslides and debris flows in steep terrain of central Japan Earth Surf. Process. Landforms 33, 827–840.
- Jenkins JH, Guernsey FW. 1935. Logging Waste in the Douglas Fir-Western Red Cedar Type of the Southern Coast Region of British Columbia. Forest Products Laboratories of Canada. The Forestry Chronicle (1935) 11:12-18.
- Marden, M., Rowan, D. 2015. The effect of land use on slope failure and sediment generation in the Coromandel Region of New Zealand following a major storm in 1995. New Zealand Journal of Forestry science (2015) Vol. 45 10p.
- Miller, E. L.: 1984, 'Sediment yield and storm flow response to clear-cut harvest and site preparation in the Ouachita Mountains', *Water Resources Res.* **20**(4), 471–475.
- MPI. 2011. Parliamentary Commissioner for the Environment (1988) Inquiry into Flood Mitigation Measures following Cyclone Bola. Parliamentary Commissioner for the Environment, Wellington N.Z. December 1988

MPI. 2017. Resource Management (National Environmental Standards for Plantation Forestry) Regulations 2017. 77pp.

http://www.legislation.govt.nz/regulation/public/2017/0174/latest/whole.html#whole (accessed on 15 May 2018).

- NZFOA. 2009. New Zealand Environmental Code of Practice for Plantation Forestry. New Zealand Forest Owners Association, Wellington, NZ. 168 pp. https://www.nzfoa.org.nz/resources/file-libraries-resources/codes-of-practice/44-environmental-code-of-practice/file (accessed on 15 May 2018).
- NZFOA. 2012. New Zealand Forest Road Engineering Manual. Zealand Forest Owners Association, Wellington, NZ. 150 pp.
- Oregon. 2002. Forestry, Landslides and public Safety. Oregon Board of Forestry 128p.
- Oregon. 2003. High Landslide Hazard Locations, Shallow, Rapidly Moving Landslides and Public Safety: Screening and Practices. Forest Practices Technical Note Number 2. Oregon Board of Forestry. 11p.
- Page, M. J., Jones, K.E. 2013. Landslide distribution at Ligar Bay resulting from the December 2011 rainstorm; a GIS analysis to inform exotic forest harvesting and management options. GNS Science Consultancy Report 2013/184. Lower Hutt, New Zealand: GNS Science.
- Payn, T., Phillips, C., Basher, L., Garrett, L., Harrison, D., Heaphy, M, and Marden, M. 2015. Improving management of post-harvest risks in steepland plantations. New Zealand Journal of Forestry, (August 2015) Vol. 60, No. 2. Pp3-6.
- Pearce, AJ., Hodgkiss, PD. 1987. Erosion and sediment yield from a landing failure after a moderate rainstorm.
- Pendly, M., Bloomberg, M. Visser, R. 2015. Investigating the regional variation in rules and best management practices for forestry in New Zealand, Australasian Journal of Environmental Management, 22:3, 298-314, DOI: 10.1080/14486563.2014.991768
- Phillips C, Marden M, Basher L 2012. Plantation forest harvesting and landscape response what we know and what we need to know. New Zealand Journal of Forestry 56: 4–12.
- Phillips, C., Marden, M., Basher, L., Spencer, N., 2016. Storm-initiated debris flows and plantation forestry: protocols for monitoring and Post-storm data capture. Landcare Research report for Gisborne District Council.
- Phillips, C., Pruden, C., Coker, R., 1996. Forest harvesting in the Marlborough Sounds Flying in the face of a storm? NZ Forestry May 1996.
- Raymond, K. 2015. Crisis. What Crisis? Maintaining our Social License to Harvest Steepland Forests. New Zealand Journal of Forestry. Vol. 60. No. 2. 43-45.
- Reid, M. Coe, J and O'Brien, B. 2016. Forecasting inundation from debris flows that grow volumetrically during travel, with application to the Oregon Coast Range, USA. Geomorphology, Volume 273: 396-411.
- https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0169555X16306638 Rigon E., Comiti, F., Lenzi, MA. 2012. Large wood storage in streams of the Eastern Italian Alps and the relevance of hillslope processes. Water Resources Research, Vol. 48, W01518. doi:10.1029/2010WR009854

- Stokes BJ. 1992 Harvest small trees and forest residues. Biomass and Bioenergy (1992) 2:131-147.
- SFI 2015. Sustainable Forestry Initiative. Standards and Rules. Retrieved from: http://www.sfiprogram.org/files/pdf/2015-2019-standardsandrules-web-lr-pdf/
- Swanson, F.J., Lienkaemper, G.W., and Sedell, J.R. 1976. History, Physical Effects and Management Implications of Large Organic Debris in Western Oregon Streams. USDA Forest Service General Technical Report (PNW-56). 15pp.
- Swanston, D.N. 1974a. Slope stability problems associated with timber harvesting in mountainous regions of the western United States. Gen. Tech. Rep. PNW-GTR-021. Portland, OR: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Pacific <u>https://www.fs.usda.gov/treesearch/pubs/25312</u>
- Tasmanian WD Manual. 2014. Environmental Best Practice Guidelines 6. Managing Large Woody Debris in Waterways. Waterways & Wetlands Works Manual.
- Thonen. 2006. The Fraser River Debris Trap: A Cost Benefit Analysis. Prepared for the Fraser River Debris Operating Committee
- Toews, D.A.A. and Moore, M.K. 1982. The Effects of Streamside Logging on Large Organic Debris in Carnation Creek. Land Management Report, ISSN 0702-9861; no. 11
- Vaughan L, Visser R, Smith M. 1993. New Zealand Forest Code of Practice (2nd ed). Rotorua: Logging Industry Research Organisation
- Visser, R. and Fenton, T. 1994. Developing Streamside Management Guidelines for New Zealand Production Forestry. Liro Report. Vol. 19. No. 7. Liro Forestry Solutions. Rotorua, NZ. 16pp.

6. Appendix: Good Practice Guide Slash Trap - NZFOA



Please refer to the 'how to use' section of the introduction at <u>http://docs.nzfoa.org.nz/forest-practice-guides/</u> for advice on how to use this guide.

Forest Practice Guide

POREST OWNERS ASSOCIA





Harvest Slash 6.4 Slash Traps

Where and when to use

- Use in high risk harvest and post-harvest river and stream catchments, where slash could be mobilised in flood events.
- Use to limit slash movement downstream from the forest where it could cause problems for downstream property owners or infrastructure (e.g. roads, culverts)
- Aim to install slash traps when road lining operations commence, where practicable.

B Where not to use

- If the natural alignment of the river or stream channel will be altered.
- If the slash trap will change the river gradient, by debris building up behind the structure and creating a weir.
- If the slash trap will cause erosion of the banks and bed of a river.
- If the slash trap will adversely affect downstream properties.

C Design

- 1. Design for:
 - A minimum six year engineered life. Slash traps need to last long term.
 - b. Free movement of water through the structure.
 - c. Fish passage.
 - Trapping the larger debris only, rather than trapping or damming all debris.
 - Machine access to clean and maintain the structure.
 - Ease of checking after storm events (near road access or good drone access).
- Position at right angles to the river or stream. If there is a natural bench then slightly angle it downstream to aid slash being deposited onto it.
- Construct the debris trap in a low gradient reach of the *river* to minimise the combined energy of water and weight of debris on the trap during peak flows. This helps to minimise the chance of structural failure.
- 4. A resource consent is needed to install slash traps in catchments larger than 20 ha, unless the slash trap is located on a terrace on one side of the river or on a low river terrace. The terrace(s) should allow the overflow of any excess material that may build up against the trap, to reduce pressure and risk of the structure failing.
- Locating the slash trap adjacent to a large flat area above flood flow level is preferable, to provide storage for any debris that has been intercepted by the trap and needs to be removed. This will reduce the cost of maintaining the slash trap.
- Document and take photos of location, design and construction.
- Resource consent may be required, check prior to construction.
- Consider whether a series of slash traps (two or more) would be a better solution than one slash trap.



Non-Regulatory





Harvest Slash 6.4 Slash Traps

D Construction

- For maximum structural strength, use the largest railway iron gauge available or appropriately specified steel universal beams, such as I-beams or RSJ's.
- 2. Drive the irons/beams into the river bed.
- Ensure the spaced iron/beam uprights are not too close to each other to avoid trapping too much material.
- Support railway iron/beam uprights with a wire rope.
- Anchor the wire rope to deadmen or large trees on either river bank to secure the slash trap.
- Excavate, if necessary, a larger catch basin if space allows.



Slash captured by slash trap installed upstream of road and bridge. Accessible site allows removal of slash and maintenance of the slash trap.

B Maintenance

- Prepare a routine maintenance plan including heavy rainfall response measures.
- Maintain the debris trap to a maximum of two thirds storage capacity at all times.
- Visit slash traps within five working days after a storm event that could have mobilised slash (5% AEP or greater).
- Clear debris within 20 working days after a storm event.
- Put cleared debris beyond the flood plain, or beyond where it could be mobilised by a flood event up to a 1 in 20-year event (5% AEP).

Reporting

(to meet the National Environmental Standards for Plantation Forests)

- Provide a written report to the regional council within 20 days of the construction of a slash trap.
- Provide a written report to the regional council by 31 March each year that includes:
 - a. Frequency of maintenance and clearing.
 - b. Slash trap condition and performance.
 - c. Any damage to downstream property, stream bed disturbance, fish passage blockages.

Forest Practice Guide





Harvest Slash 6.4 Slash Traps

G Technical specification guidelines

- Build the trap at least 0.5 to 1.0 m higher than the river banks.
- The irons/beams should be up to 2 m above the river bed (if higher, a resource consent is required).
- Drive irons / beams into the river bed to a depth of at least 1.5 m.
- Space railway irons / beams 1.5 to 2 m apart and no closer than 1.5 m.
- The irons should be no more than 2 m above the river bed (if higher, a resource consent is required).
- 6. Use a wire rope (minimum 22 mm diameter).
- Ensure there are smooth-sided holes cut in the upper sections of the irons/beams (for threading the wire).
- When anchoring the wire rope to the deadmen or large trees, insert a knot in the rope and supporting clamps, on either streambank to secure the slash trap.
- 9. Maximise tension in the rope.

- Secure clamps to the wire rope immediately on either side of each railway irons/beams to create rigidity. Clamps stop the irons/beams from being forced out of alignment when under pressure.
- Short logs or railway irons/beams can be driven into the terraces adjacent to the *slash* trap, to catch more material in high flows.
- If it is likely that trapped debris could divert stream flow during a flood event, the bank should be armoured to prevent scouring.
- Refer to Debris Flow Control Structures for Forest Engineering, D.F. VanDine, British Colombia Ministry of Forests 1996 and <u>www.geobrugg.com/</u> <u>en/Debris-flow-barrier-UX-7949,7859.html</u>.

National Environmental Standards for Plantation Forestry

Particular relevant provisions for managing slash are Regulations 83 – 92.

7. Appendix 1: NES-PF 'Slash Traps' (section 83 -)

Permitted activity

Territorial authority

Constructing, installing, using, maintaining, or removing a slash trap on land, including land within the riparian zone, is a permitted activity.

Regional council

Constructing, installing, using, maintaining, or removing a slash trap in the bed of a river or on land is a permitted activity if regulations 84 to 91 are complied with.

Conditions: design

The slash trap design must allow water to flow through freely and ensure that the slash trap does not dam the river.

The height of the slash trap must be no higher than 2 m above the bed of the river.

Conditions: placement

Where the catchment area upstream of the slash trap is greater than 20 ha, the slash trap must not be located within the bankfull channel width of the river.

The slash trap must be located in a position that allows machine access for clearing and maintenance.

Conditions: inspection and clearance

The slash trap must be—

(a) inspected within 5 working days of the date of any significant rainfall event in the upstream catchment that is likely to mobilise debris:

(b) cleared of debris at least within 20 working days following a 5% AEP flood event:

(c) maintained to avoid erosion of the river bed and maintained in a structurally sound and effective condition.

Slash cleared from the slash trap must be removed to a safe and stable location beyond river bed and land covered by the 5 % AEP flood event.

Permitted activity conditions: effect on other structures and users

A slash trap must not-

(a) alter the natural alignment or gradient of the river; or

(b) compromise the structural integrity or use of any other lawfully established infrastructure or activity in the bed of a river or lake; or

(c) cause flooding or ponding on any property under different ownership from that of the plantation forest; or

(d) cause or induce erosion of the river bed, or erosion or instability of the banks, of the river.

Conditions: passage of fish

The slash trap must be designed, located, and maintained so that it provides for the passage of fish.

Conditions: contaminant discharges and depositing organic matter

If a slash trap is being constructed, installed, removed, maintained, or cleared,-

(a) the activity must not release contaminants into water, other than sediment; and

(b) all practicable steps must be taken to—

(i) avoid depositing organic matter or discharging sediment into a water body or onto the bed of a river or land in circumstances that may result in it entering water; and

(ii) minimise the disturbance of the bed of the river; and

(c) all practicable steps must be taken to avoid wet concrete or concrete ingredients coming into contact with flowing or standing water; and

(d) elevated sediment levels in any river resulting from the construction, installation,

maintenance, or removal of a slash trap must not occur for more than 8 consecutive hours; and

(e) all excess materials and equipment must be removed from the bed of the river within 24 hours of the completion of the construction, installation, maintenance, or removal of a slash trap.

Conditions: sediment

Sediment originating from slash traps must be managed to ensure that after reasonable mixing it does not give rise to any of the following effects in receiving waters:

(a) any conspicuous change in colour or visual clarity:

(b) the rendering of fresh water unsuitable for consumption by farm animals:

(c) any significant adverse effect on aquatic life.

Conditions: reporting requirements

A written report must be provided to the regional council within 20 working days of the slash trap's construction detailing location, design, and construction. Photographic evidence of the slash trap must form part of the report. A written report must be provided to the regional council annually by 31 March detailing the frequency of maintenance and clearance of the slash trap, and slash trap condition and performance, including any of the following adverse effects:

(a) damage to downstream infrastructure, property, or receiving environments:

(b) disturbance of the bed of the river:

(c) blockages to the passage of fish.

Restricted discretionary activity: regional council

Restricted discretionary activity

Constructing, installing, using, maintaining, or removing a slash trap in the bed of a river or on land is a restricted discretionary activity if any provision of regulations 84 to 91 is not complied with.

Matters to which discretion is restricted

Discretion is restricted to-

(a) slash trap design and construction:

(b) the location, timing, and duration of the slash trap:

(c) the effectiveness of mitigation measures to manage the effects of slash,

debris mobilisation, and downstream deposition:

(d) alternative measures to manage slash and debris mobilisation:

- (e) river bed and bank stability and erosion:
- (f) the effects on ecosystems, including the passage of fish:
- (g) water quality and flow:

(h) public use and public access to and along the river:

- (i) the effects on upstream and downstream properties and infrastructure:
- (j) the information and monitoring requirements.